TRANSMITTAL SHEET FOR NOTICE OF INTENDED ACTION

Control	610	Department or Agency		Alabama	Alabama Board of Nursing		
Rule No.	610-X-7						
Rule Title			ractice, Speci				
X Ne	w	Amend>	K Repeal	<i>,</i>	Adopt by Re	eference	
	bsence of the e public health	•		narm or		Yes	
Is there a reasonable relationship between the state's police power and the protection of the public health, safety, or welfare?						Yes	
Is there another, less restrictive method of regulation available that could adequately protect the public?						No	
Does the proposed rule have the effect of directly or indirectly increasing the costs of any goods or services involved and, if so, to what degree?						No	
Is the increase in cost, if any, more harmful to the public than the harm that might result from the absence of the proposed rule?						No	
Are all facets of the rulemaking process designed solely for the purpose of, and so they have, as their primary effect, the protection of the public?					1 .	Yes	
							
Does the proposed rule have an economic impact?					-	No	
If the proposed rule has an economic impact, the proposed rule is required to be accompanied by a fiscal note prepared in accordance with subsection (f) of Section 41-22-23, Code of Alabama 1975.							
******	******	******	*****	******	******	*****	
Certification of Authorized Official							
I certify that the attached proposed rule has been proposed in full compliance with the requirements of Chapter 22, Title 41, Code of Alabama 1975, and that it conforms to all applicable filing requirements of the Administrative Procedure Division of the Legislative Reference Service. Signature of certifying officerPegg/Benson, RN, MSHA, MSN, NE-BC							
- 1 oggy bollson, tha, Mol M, McH, ME-BO							
Date Apr	il 18, 2016						

DATE FILED (STAMP)

ALABAMA BOARD OF NURSING

NOTICE OF INTENDED ACTION

AGENCY NAME:

Alabama Board of Nursing

RULE NO. & TITLE:

Rule 610-X-7, Standards of Nursing Practice:

Specific Settings

INTENDED ACTION: The Alabama Board of Nursing proposes to repeal and replace the regulations related to continuing education requirements for licensure as a nurse.

<u>SUBSTANCE OF PROPOSED ACTION:</u> The Alabama Board of Nursing proposes to repeal and replace <u>Administrative Code</u>, Rule 610-X-7, Standards of Nursing Practice; Specific Settings. A copy of the proposed new rule may be found on the Board's web site, <u>www.abn.alabama.gov</u>, under "laws" and then "proposed rule changes." The proposed changes clarify the standards of nursing practice for specified settings, including schools and camps.

<u>TIME, PLACE, MANNER OF PRESENTING VIEWS:</u> Written or verbal comments will be received by the Board of Nursing until 4:30 P.M. on Friday, June 3, 2016. Verbal or written comments should be directed to Peggy Benson, Executive Officer, at P.O. Box 303900, Montgomery, AL 36130-3900 or via electronic mail at Peggy.Benson@abn.alabama.gov or via telephone at 334-293-5210.

FINAL DATE FOR COMMENT AND COMPLETION OF NOTICE:

The record closes at 4:30 P.M. on Friday, June 3, 2016.

CONTACT PERSON AT AGENCY: Peggy Benson, Executive Officer.

Executive Officer

Nursing

Chapter 610-X-7

ALABAMA BOARD OF NURSING ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

CHAPTER 610-X-7 STANDARDS OF NURSING PRACTICE; SPECIFIC SETTINGS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

610-X-701	Definitions
610-X-702	Delegation By School Nurses
610-X-703	State Of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL) Program
610-x-704	Registered Nurse As Surgical First Assistant (RNFA)
610-X-705	Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)
610-X-706	Alabama Department Of Mental Health
	Residential Community Programs
610-X-707	Occupational Safety And Health
	Administration Respiratory Standard
610-X-708	Behavioral Restraint And Seculsion
610-X-709	Commercial Drivers License Examinations
610-X-710	Delegation Of Insulin And Glucagon
	Administration In The School Setting

610-X-7-.01 Definitions.

- (1) Delegation: The act of authorizing a competent individual to perform selected nursing activities supportive to registered nurses or licensed practical nurses in selected situations while retaining the accountability for the outcome if the delegation is to an unlicensed individual.
- (2) Medication Assistant, Certified (MAC): Mental health worker who successfully completed approved curriculum for assistance with medications in community residential settings.
- (3) Medication Assistant Supervisor (MAS): A registered nurse or licensed practical nurse who supervises Medication Assistant, Certified (MAC) in community mental health residential settings.
- (4) Medication Assistant Train the Trainer (MATT): A registered nurse who teaches the approved curriculum for mental health community residential settings.

- (5) Registered Nurse First Assistant (RNFA): A registered nurse who, through additional education and supervised clinical practice, has acquired knowledge, skills, and judgment that are specific to providing assistance during a surgical procedure as directed by the attending surgeon and as defined in standardized procedures.
- (6) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE): A registered nurse who, through additional education and supervised clinical practice, has acquired knowledge, skills, and judgment specific to providing health services to sexual assault or rape victims including a forensics examination.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 28, 1982. Repealed: Filed

October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. **New Rule**: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009. **Amended**: Filed May 21, 2013; effective June 25, 2013.

610-X-7-.02 <u>Delegation</u> By School Nurses.

- (1) The school nurse is accountable and responsible for the nursing care delivered to students under the nurse's jurisdiction.
- (2) Over-the-counter (OTC) medications may be administered to school children by the school nurse with a parent's written authorization and without a physician's authorization unless the school system policy requires a physician authorization. Parental authorization requirements require the following documentation:
 - (a) The purpose of the OTC medication.
- (b) The circumstances under which the over-the-counter medication can be administered.
- (3) Registered nurses or licensed practical nurses who provide nursing care in the school setting through the twelfth grade may delegate specific tasks to unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (4) The registered nurse is accountable for determining the tasks that may be safely performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel following appropriate training and demonstration of competency.

- (5) Delegation of the use of the vagal nerve stimulator (VNS) in selected cases is not prohibited.
- (6) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Catheterization, clean or sterile.
- (b) Administration of injectable medications, other than premeasured medication for allergic reactions.
 - (c) Administration of rectal or vaginal medications.
- (d) Calculation of medication dosages other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
 - (e) Tracheotomy care, including suctioning.
 - (f) Gastric tube insertion, replacement, or feedings.
 - (g) Invasive procedures or techniques.
 - (h) Sterile procedures.
 - (i) Ventilator care.
- (j) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (7) The task of providing prescribed oral, topical, ear, eye, nasal, and inhalation medications to a student through twelfth grade may be delegated to unlicensed assistive personnel by the school nurse only when the following conditions are met:
- (a) The school nurse identifies the appropriate individual(s) to assist in providing prescribed medications.
- (b) The unlicensed assistive personnel selected by the school nurse shall attend a minimum twelve hour course of instruction that includes a curriculum approved by the Board and demonstrated competency to perform the delegated task.
- (c) The school nurse shall provide periodic and regular evaluation and monitoring of the individual performing the delegated tasks.

Chapter 610-X-7

Nursing

- (d) The school nurse shall routinely and periodically conduct quality monitoring of the tasks performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel, including, but not limited to:
 - (i) Training.
 - (ii) Competency.
 - (iii) Documentation.
 - (iv) Error reporting.
- (v) Methods of identification of the right student, the right task, the right method, and the right quantity at the right time.
- (8) The school nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (9) The School Nurse Consultant or School Nurse Administrator shall submit a report(s) to the Alabama Board of Nursing in a format specified by the Board upon request.

 Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 29, 1982. Repealed: Filed
October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed

November 23, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. **New Rule**: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.03 <u>State Of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL)</u> Program.

- (1) Registered nurses employed by the State of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL) Program administered by the Department of Rehabilitation Services may delegate tasks to a patient's designated caregiver if each of the following conditions is met.
- (a) The Department of Rehabilitation Services, in conjunction with the registered nurse, approves the patient's designated caregiver to receive delegation.
- (b) The registered nurse is accountable for determining the tasks that may be safely performed by the patient's designated caregiver.

- (c) The registered nurse identifies the training needs of the patient's designated caregiver and assures that the training is appropriate for the task to be delegated
- (d) The patient's designated caregiver demonstrates competency to perform the delegated task.
- (2) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
- (a) Administration of injectable medications, other than premeasured medication for allergic reactions.
- (b) Calculation of medication dosages other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
- (C) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (3) The registered nurse shall provide periodic and regular evaluation and monitoring of the individual performing the delegated tasks.
- (4) The registered nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to the patient's designated caregiver.
- (5) The registered nurse is accountable and responsible for the nursing care delivered to patients under the nurse's jurisdiction.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 29, 1982. Amended: Filed September 21, 1984; effective October 29, 1984. Amended: Filed February 4, 1997; effective March 11, 1997. Repealed: Filed October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.04 Registered Nurse As Surgical First Assistant (RNFA).

(1) The registered nurse may function as a surgical first assistant according to standardized procedures as defined

in Rule 610-X-6-.12. The registered nurse first assistant has the duty to verify that standardized procedures are in effect before performing the functions of a surgical first assistant.

- (2) Performing intra-operative functions as a RNFA is limited to the direct supervision of the attending surgeon physically present in the surgical suite where the case is being performed.
- (3) When directed by the attending surgeon, the RNFA intra-operative functions include but are not limited to:
- (a) positioning the patient, preparing and draping the surgical site.
 - (b) providing exposure, retraction, and hemostasis.
 - (c) use and handling of surgical instrumentation.
- (d) tissue handling, dissection, suturing, and stapling.
- (e) making the skin nick or stab wound for laparoscopic surgery or drains excluding placement of trocar far laparoscopic access.
 - (f) securing drains.
 - (g) closing of wounds external to the fascia.
- (h) harvesting extremity veins and closure of the resulting wounds.
- (4) Functions for the RNFA that are not listed in these rules shall be defined in standardized procedures. Approval by the Board is required prior to implementation of RNFA standardized procedures for all practice settings.
- (5) Standardized procedures for the RNFA shall include a statement of clinical privileges for additional technical functions that are permitted in a hospital.
- (6) The RNFA shall not function as a scrub nurse concurrently with responsibility as a surgical first assistant.
- (7) Practice as a registered nurse first assistant does not include the functions and privileges reserved for advanced practice nurses elsewhere in these rules.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: New Rule: Filed February 4, 1997; effective March 11, 1997. Repealed: Filed October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed April 15, 2010; effective May 20, 2010.

610-X-7-.05 <u>Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)</u>.

- (1) A registered nurse may practice as a sexual assault nurse examiner with appropriate additional education, including supervised clinical practice and demonstrated clinical competence.
- (a) The educational program for a sexual assault nurse examiner shall comply with the education standards of the International Association of Forensic Nurses (IAFN). The educational program shall follow the content outline contained in IAFN's Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Education *Guidelines* and shall be specific to the population examined by the sexual assault nurse examiner: adult/adolescent or pediatric.
- 1. An adult/adolescent sexual assault nursing education program includes a minimum of forty (40) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
- 2. A pediatric sexual assault nursing education program includes:
- (i) A minimum of forty (40) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
- (ii) A combined adult/adolescent and pediatric sexual assault nursing education program that includes a minimum of sixty-four (64) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
- (b) Supervised clinical practice shall occur with one of the following:
- 1. A physician licensed to practice medicine in Alabama with training in forensics and/or the detection of abuse.
- 2. An advanced practice nurse with experience as a sexual assault nurse examiner.

- 3. Another registered nurse with experience as a sexual assault nurse examiner.
- (c) The registered nurse shall demonstrate clinical competence with all aspects of the examination.
- (2) A registered nurse who practices as a sexual assault nurse examiner shall:
- (a) Practice according to a written protocol signed by a trained medical director who is a physician licensedin Alabama or an advanced practice nurse with prescriptive authority prior to administering medications for prophylaxis of sexually transmitted diseases or pregnancy.
- (b) Conduct examinations of sexual assault or rape victims in accordance with accepted principles of forensic nursing, including, but not limited to, chain of custody, photodocumentation, colposcopy, documentation, confidentiality, and evidence integrity. All pediatric sexual assault examinations shall include photodocumentation and/or videography.
- (c) Maintain documentation of appropriate initial and continuing education, supervised clinical practice, and demonstrated clinical competence which includes peer review.
- (d) Have 100% medical director review of each pediatric examination performed.
- (3) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Program Directors shall have the requisite certification, SANE-A and/or SANE-P, or demonstrate active efforts to achieve the certification, or have no less than five years' experience as a SANE.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed February 25, 2013; effective

April 1, 2013.

610-X-7-.06 Alabama Department Of Mental Health Residential Community Programs.

(1) The registered nurse or licensed practical nurse who provides care in residential community mental health programs certified by the Alabama Department of Mental Health is accountable and responsible for the nursing care delivered to patients in those settings.

- (2) Registered nurses or licensed practical nurses who provide nursing care in the residential community mental health setting, and the community extensions including day habilitation programs, may delegate specific limited tasks to designated unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (3) The registered nurse is responsible and accountable for the completion of a comprehensive assessment and evaluation of patients' nursing care needs. The licensed practical nurse may initiate and document data elements of the comprehensive assessment. The outcome of the comprehensive assessment determines the tasks that may be safely performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel in residential community mental health settings.
- (4) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Catheterization, clean or sterile.
- (b) Administration of injectable medications, with the exception of injectable medications for anaphylaxis such as the Epi-pen®.
- (c) Calculation of medication dosages other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
 - (d) Tracheotomy care, including suctioning.
 - (e) Gastric tube insertion, replacement, or feedings.
 - (f) Invasive procedures or techniques.
 - (q) Sterile procedures.
 - (h) Ventilator care.
- (i) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (5) The task of assisting with the delivery of prescribed eye, ear, nose, oral, topical, inhalant, rectal, or vaginal medications may only be delegated to a mental health worker by the registered nurse or licensed practical nurse only when the following conditions are met:

- (a) The registered nurse or licensed practical nurse identifies the appropriate individual(s) to assist in providing prescribed medications.
- (b) The mental health worker selected by the registered nurse or licensed practical nurse shall complete six (6) courses of MAC 1 training via e-learning computer modules with a minimum score of 90% on all testing. Successful completion of MAC I training shall be followed by the successful completion of eight (8) hours of MAC II training conducted by a MAS Trained registered nurse or licensed practical nurse.
- (6) The registered nurse or licensed practical nurse shall provide and document annual evaluation and monitoring of the unlicensed mental health worker performing the delegated tasks.

The registered nurse or licensed practical nurse shall assess and document annually at a minimum:

- (a) Competency.
- (b) Documentation.
- (c) Error reporting.
- (d) (Identification of the seven (7) rights of assisting with medication.
 - (e) Professionalism.
 - (f) Reliability.
 - (q) Respect.
- (7) The registered nurse or licensed practical nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to mental health worker(s).
- (8) The Commissioner of the Alabama Department of Mental Health shall submit a report(s) to the Alabama Board of Nursing in a format specified by the Board upon request to include but not limited to:
 - (a) Total number of residential community facilities.
 - (b) Total number of residents served.
 - (c) Total number of registered nurses.
 - (d) Total number of licensed practical nurses.

- (e) Total number of Mental Health Workers trained to assist with delivery of medications.
- (f) Total number of mental Health Workers trained during the reporting period to assist with delivery of medications.
- (g) Total number of medication errors in each category.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed May 21, 2013; effective

June 25, 2013.

610-X-7-.07 Occupational Safety And Health Administration Respiratory Standard.

- (1) Registered nurses and certified registered nurse practitioners may administer the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Respiratory Standard Medical questionnaire.
- (2) Registered nurses and certified registered nurse practitioners may refer the employee for a medical examination based upon the employee's responses to the medical questionnaire and evaluation of these responses.
- (3) Certified registered nurse practitioners may perform the medical examination related to the OSHA Respiratory Standard Medical questionnaire if appropriate for their area of practice.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.08 <u>Behavioral Restraint And Seculsion</u>. Registered nurses are authorized to perform the one-hour, face-to-face evaluation for patients placed in behavioral restraint or seclusion if the facility has a policy and procedure and organized program of study.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

Chapter 610-X-7

Nursing

History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.09 <u>Commercial Drivers License Examinations</u>. The assessment of applicants for commercial driver licenses is restricted to family, adult, and acute care certified registered nurse practitioners.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.10 <u>Delegation Of Insulin And Glucagon Administration</u> In The School Setting.

(1) DEFINITIONS

- (a) Glucagon: a hormone that raises the level of glucose in the blood and is administered by injection to individuals to treat severe hypoglycemia that is indicated by the inability to eat food or drink, unconsciousness, unresponsiveness and/or seizures or convulsions.
- (b) Insulin: a hormone made and released by the pancreas that allows glucose to enter the cells where it is used for energy. Students with type 1 diabetes and some students with type 2 diabetes need to administer insulin at regular times and take insulin to cover carbohydrate intake to correct hyperglycemia.
- (c) Medication Administration and Safety: See Chapter 610-X-6-.07.
- (d) School setting: preschool through 12^{th} grade in a public or private school or school activity sponsored by such a school, in which the student is a direct participant.
- (e) Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant: a school employee who volunteers to receive delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon in the school setting and receives the approved training.

(2) GENERAL PRINCIPLES

- (a) The injection of insulin or glucagon is a nursing task that may be delegated in accordance with the requirements of Act 2014-437 and the student's individualized health plan (IHP). The selection of the type of insulin and dosage levels shall not be delegated.
- (b) An Individualized Health Plan (IHP) shall be developed for any student diagnosed with diabetes who is in the school setting as provided for in Alabama Act No 2014-437.
- (c) Delegation of tasks for students with diabetes shall be confined to procedures that do not require nursing assessment, judgment, evaluation, or complex skills.
- (d) Factors the school nurse shall consider and may include in the IHP are:
- 1. Age of onset and current age of student with diabetes
 - 2. Recent hospitalization
 - 3. Most recent hemoglobin A1C (HgA1C)
- 4. Recent change in type of insulin, delivery method, and dosage
 - 5. If and when glucagon was required
 - 6. Comorbidities or other chronic illnesses
- 7. Participation in sports or other school-sponsored activities
 - 8. Orders from a legally authorized prescriber
 - 9. Carbohydrate counting
 - 10. Blood glucose monitoring
 - 11. Activation or suspension of an insulin pump
 - 12. Usage of insulin pens
 - 13. Self-administration evaluation
 - 14. Student's comprehension and adherence to treatment
 - 15. Parental comprehension and adherence to treatment

- 16. Emergency protocol related to glucagon administration
 - 17. Student's overall health needs
- 18. Insulin to carbohydrate ratios and correction factors
- 19. Symptoms and treatment of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia
 - 20. Ketone testing
- (e) Teaching school personnel about diabetes does not constitute delegation.
- (f) Insulin and glucagon administration delegation is limited to:
 - 1. The student's Individual Health Plan,
- 2. Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants who have received training and competency validation for each student assigned to them.
 - 3. Specific students
 - 4. Specific identified time frame
- (g) The delegation shall include documentation of administration of glucagon and insulin and appropriate reporting to the school nurse.
- (h) If the local education agency determines that school nurses shall provide the care to students with diabetes, delegation may not be required.

(3) PROCEDURE

- (a) The school nurse shall validate the competency of the trained, unlicensed medication assistant to whom delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon is given
- (b) Insulin injection by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant receiving the delegation shall only occur when consistent with the IHP.
- (c) Dosages of insulin may be injected by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant as designated in the IHP.

- (d) Non-routine and/or large correction dosages of insulin may be given by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant only after consulting with the school nurse, parent or guardian, as designated in the IHP and after verifying and confirming the type and dosage of insulin being injected.
- (e) When the student is not capable of self-administration, routine daily meal boluses (routine correction dosages) of insulin, based on carbohydrate counts and blood glucose levels, may be administered by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant as designated in the IHP.
- (f) Training of the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants shall occur prior to any delegation of administration of glucagon and insulin.
- (g) The school nurse shall follow the training guidelines developed by the State Department of Education in consultation with the Alabama Board of Nursing.
- (h) The local education agency, in consultation with the school principal, shall identify any volunteer in each school to the school nurse for possible training.
- (i) An annual report of the number of Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants in each school and the delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon to specific Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants shall be provided to the Board of Nursing by the Lead Nurse of each school system. Author:

Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: New Rule: Filed March 13, 2015; effective

April 17, 2015.

ALABAMA BOARD OF NURSING ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

CHAPTER 610-X-7 STANDARDS OF NURSING PRACTICE; SPECIFIC SETTINGS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

610-X-701	Definitions
610-X-702	Delegation By School Nurses
610-X-703	State Of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL) Program
610-X-704	Registered Nurse As Surgical First Assistant (RNFA)
610-X-705	Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)
610-X-706	Alabama Department Of Mental Health
	Residential Community Programs
610-X-707	Occupational Safety And Health Administration Respiratory Standard
610-X-708	Behavioral Restraint And Seclusion
610-X-709	Commercial Drivers License Examinations
610-X-710	Delegation Of Insulin And Glucagon
	Administration In The School Setting

610-X-7-.01 <u>Definitions</u>.

- (1) Delegation: The act of authorizing a competent individual to perform selected nursing activities supportive to licensed nurses in selected situations while retaining the accountability for the outcome if the delegation is to an unlicensed individual.
- (2) Medication Assistant, Certified (MAC): Mental health worker who successfully completed approved curriculum for assistance with medications in community residential settings.
- (3) Medication Assistant Supervisor (MAS): A licensed nurse who supervises Medication Assistant, Certified (MAC) in community mental health residential settings.
- (4) Medication Assistant Train the Trainer (MATT): A registered nurse who teaches the approved curriculum for mental health community residential settings.

- (5) Registered Nurse First Assistant (RNFA): A registered nurse who, through additional education and supervised clinical practice, has acquired knowledge, skills, and judgment specific to providing assistance during a surgical procedure, as directed by the attending surgeon and as defined in standardized procedures.
- (6) Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE): A registered nurse who, through additional education and supervised clinical practice, has acquired knowledge, skills, and judgment specific to providing health services to sexual assault or rape victims, including a forensics examination.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 28, 1982. Repealed: Filed
October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed
November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed
May 21, 2013; effective June 25, 2013.

610-X-7-.02 <u>Delegation By School Nurses</u>.

- (1) The school nurse is accountable and responsible for the nursing care delivered to students under the nurse's jurisdiction.
- (2) Over-the-counter (OTC) medications may be administered to school children by the school nurse with a parent's written authorization and without a physician's authorization, unless the school system policy requires a physician authorization. Parental authorization requirements require the following documentation:
 - (a) The purpose of the OTC medication.
- (b) The circumstances under which the over-the-counter medication can be administered.
- (3) Licensed nurses who provide nursing care in the school setting through the twelfth grade may delegate specific tasks to unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (4) The registered nurse is accountable for determining the tasks that may be safely performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel following appropriate training and demonstration of competency.

- (5) Delegation of the use of the vagal nerve stimulator (VNS) in selected cases is not prohibited.
- (6) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Catheterization, clean or sterile.
- (b) Administration of injectable medications, other than premeasured medication for allergic reactions and treatment of diabetes symptoms with insulin and glucagon, as described in Alabama Administrative Code 610-X-7-.10.
 - (c) Administration of rectal or vaginal medications.
- (d) Calculation of medication dosages other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
 - (e) Tracheotomy care, including suctioning.
 - (f) Gastric tube insertion, replacement, or feedings.
 - (g) Invasive procedures or techniques.
 - (h) Sterile procedures.
 - (i) Ventilator care.
- (j) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (7) The task of providing prescribed oral, topical, ear, eye, nasal, and inhalation medications to a student through twelfth grade may be delegated to unlicensed assistive personnel by the school nurse only when the following conditions are met:
- (a) The school nurse identifies the appropriate individual(s) to assist in providing prescribed medications.
- (b) The unlicensed assistive personnel selected by the school nurse shall attend a minimum seven hour course of instruction that includes a curriculum approved by the Board and have demonstrated competency to perform the delegated task.
- (c) The school nurse shall provide periodic and regular evaluation and monitoring of the individual performing the delegated tasks.

- (d) The school nurse shall routinely and periodically conduct quality monitoring of the tasks performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel, including but not limited to:
 - (i) Training.
 - (ii) Competency.
 - (iii) Documentation.
 - (iv) Error reporting.
- (v) Performance of the seven (7) rights of medication administration.
- (8) The school nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (9) The School Nurse Consultant or School Nurse Administrator shall submit a report(s) to the Alabama Board of Nursing in a format specified by the Board upon request.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing
Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 29, 1982. Repealed: Filed
October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed
November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.03 <u>State Of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL)</u> Program.

- (1) Registered nurses employed by the State of Alabama Independent Living (SAIL) Program administered by the Department of Rehabilitation Services may delegate tasks to a patient's designated caregiver if each of the following conditions is met:
- (a) The Department of Rehabilitation Services, in conjunction with the registered nurse, approves the patient's designated caregiver to receive delegation.
- (b) The registered nurse is accountable for determining the tasks that may be safely performed by the patient's designated caregiver.

- (c) The registered nurse identifies the training needs of the patient's designated caregiver and assures that the training is appropriate for the task to be delegated.
- (d) The patient's designated caregiver demonstrates competency to perform the delegated task.
- (2) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
- (a) Administration of injectable medications, other than premeasured medication for allergic reactions.
- (b) Calculation of medication dosages, other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
- (c) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (3) The registered nurse shall provide periodic and regular evaluation and monitoring of the individual performing the delegated tasks.
- (4) The registered nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to the patient's designated caregiver.
- (5) The registered nurse is accountable and responsible for the nursing care delivered to patients under the nurse's jurisdiction.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §34-21-2(c)(21).

History: Filed September 29, 1982. Amended: Filed September 21, 1984; effective October 29, 1984. Amended: Filed February 4, 1997; effective March 11, 1997. Repealed: Filed October 29, 2001; effective December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.04 Registered Nurse As Surgical First Assistant (RNFA).

(1) The registered nurse may function as a surgical first assistant according to standardized procedures, as

defined in Rule 610-X-6-.12. The RNFA has the duty to verify that standardized procedures are in effect before performing the functions of a surgical first assistant.

- (2) Performing intra-operative functions as a RNFA is limited to the direct supervision of the attending surgeon physically present in the surgical suite where the case is being performed.
- (3) When directed by the attending surgeon, the RNFA intra-operative functions include, but are not limited to:
- (a) Positioning the patient, preparing and draping the surgical site.
 - (b) Providing exposure, retraction, and hemostasis.
 - (c) Use and handling of surgical instrumentation.
- (d) Tissue handling, dissection, suturing, and stapling.
- (e) Making the skin nick or stab wound for laparoscopic surgery or drains, excluding placement of trocar for laparoscopic access.
 - (f) Securing drains.
 - (g) Closing of wounds external to the fascia.
- (h) Harvesting extremity veins and closure of the resulting wounds.
- (4) Functions for the RNFA that are not listed in these rules shall be defined in standardized procedures, which require Board approval prior to implementation for all practice settings.
- (5) Standardized procedures for the RNFA shall include a statement of clinical privileges for additional technical functions that are permitted in a hospital.
- (6) The RNFA shall not function as a scrub nurse concurrently with responsibility as a surgical first assistant.
- (7) Practice as a registered nurse first assistant does not include the functions and privileges reserved for advanced practice nurses elsewhere in these rules.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).

Nursing
History: New Rule: Filed February 4, 1997; effective
March 11, 1997. Repealed: Filed October 29, 2001; effective
December 3, 2001. New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective
December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed April 15, 2010; effective
May 20, 2010.

610-X-7-.05 <u>Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner (SANE)</u>.

- (1) A registered nurse may practice as a SANE with appropriate additional education, including supervised clinical practice and demonstrated clinical competence.
- (2) The educational program for a SANE shall comply with the education standards of the International Association of Forensic Nurses (IAFN). The educational program shall follow the content outline contained in IAFN's Sexual Assault Nurse Examiner Education Guidelines and shall be specific to the population examined by the SANE: adult/adolescent or pediatric.
- (a) An adult/adolescent sexual assault nursing education program includes a minimum of forty (40) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
 - (b) A pediatric SANE program includes:
- (i) A minimum of forty (40) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
- (ii) A combined adult/adolescent and pediatric SANE program that includes a minimum of sixty-four (64) hours of course work that provides nursing continuing education or academic credit from an accredited educational institution.
- (3) Supervised clinical practice shall occur with one of the following:
- (a) A physician licensed to practice medicine in Alabama with training in forensics and/or the detection of abuse.
- (b) An advanced practice nurse with experience as a SANE.
- (c) Another registered nurse with experience as a SANE.
- (d) The registered nurse shall demonstrate clinical competence with all aspects of the examination.

- (4) A registered nurse who practices as a SANE shall:
- (a) Practice according to a written protocol signed by a trained medical director who is a physician licensed in Alabama or an advanced practice nurse with prescriptive authority prior to administering medications for prophylaxis of sexually transmitted diseases or pregnancy.
- (b) Conduct examinations of sexual assault or rape victims in accordance with accepted principles of forensic nursing, including, but not limited to, chain of custody, photodocumentation, colposcopy, documentation, confidentiality, and evidence integrity. All pediatric sexual assault examinations shall include photodocumentation and/or videography.
- (c) Maintain documentation of appropriate initial and continuing education, supervised clinical practice, and demonstrated clinical competence which includes peer review.
- (d) Have a medical director review each pediatric examination performed.
- (5) SANE Program Directors shall have the requisite certification, SANE-A and/or SANE-P, or demonstrate active efforts to achieve the certification, or have no less than five years' experience as a SANE.

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §34-21-2(c)(21).

History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed February 25, 2013; effective

April 1, 2013.

610-X-7-.06 <u>Alabama Department Of Mental Health Residential</u> Community Programs.

(1) Alabama Department of Mental Health shall train licensed nurses by the Alabama Department of Mental Health approved nurse delegation programs: Program (NDP) and the Medication Administration Supervisor (MAS). Licensed nurses who are MAS trained are accountable and responsible for the outcome of the delegated nursing care delivered by unlicensed mental health worker to residents in the residential community mental health settings.

- (2) Licensed nurses who provide nursing care in the residential community mental health setting and the community extensions, including day habilitation programs, may delegate specific limited tasks to designated unlicensed assistive personnel.
- (3) The MAS registered nurse is responsible and accountable for the completion of a comprehensive assessment and evaluation of patients' nursing care needs.
- (a) The licensed practical nurse may initiate and document data elements of the comprehensive assessment.
- (b) The outcome of the comprehensive assessment shall determine the tasks that may safely be performed by the unlicensed assistive personnel in residential community mental health settings. The focused assessment after the completion of comprehensive assessment may also identify tasks that may be delegated.
- (c) The nursing tasks delegated by the MAS licensed nurse shall be based on the residents' needs, as documented in the comprehensive and/or focused assessment. The comprehensive assessment shall be reviewed annually, or in the event of a health status change.
- (4) The specific delegated tasks shall not require the exercise of independent nursing judgment or intervention. Specific tasks that require independent nursing judgment or intervention that shall not be delegated include, but are not limited to:
 - (a) Catheterization, clean or sterile.
- (b) Administration of injectable medications, with the exception of premeasured auto injectable medications for anaphylaxis.
- (c) Calculation of medication dosages, other than measuring a prescribed amount of liquid medication or breaking a scored tablet.
 - (d) Tracheotomy care, including suctioning.
 - (e) Gastric tube insertion, replacement, or feedings.
 - (f) Invasive procedures or techniques.
 - (g) Sterile procedures.
 - (h) Ventilator care.

Chapter 610-X-7

Nursing

- (i) Receipt of verbal or telephone orders from a licensed prescriber.
- (5) The task of assisting with the delivery of prescribed eye, ear, nose, oral, topical, inhalant, rectal, or vaginal medications may be delegated to a mental health worker by the MAS trained licensed nurse only when the following conditions are met:
- (a) The licensed nurse identifies the appropriate individual(s) to assist in providing prescribed medications who has:
- (i) Completed the ADMH Medication
 Assistance Certification (MAC) Training Program Part I with a
 score of at least 90% on the test for each of the six modules, via
 a computerized ELearning System/Program.
- (ii) Completed a minimum of eight hours of ADMH and MAC Training Program Part II, taught by a MAS trained licensed nurse.
 - (iii) Successfully demonstrated all nursing tasks delegated.
- (6) The licensed nurse shall provide and document annual evaluation and monitoring of the unlicensed mental health worker performing the delegated tasks. The MAS trained licensed nurse shall assess and document the following at least annually:
 - (a) Competency.
 - (b) Documentation.
 - (c) Error reporting.
- (d) Identification of the seven (7) rights of assisting with medication.
 - (e) Professionalism.
 - (f) Reliability.
 - (g) Respect.
- (7) The MAS trained licensed nurse delegating the task may, at any time, suspend or withdraw the delegation of specific tasks to mental health worker(s).
- (8) The Commissioner of the Alabama Department of Supp. 6/30/15 7-10

Nursing Chapter 610-X-7

Mental Health shall submit a report(s) to the Alabama Board of Nursing in a format specified by the Board upon request to include, but not limited to:

- (a) Total number of community programs certified by Alabama Department of Mental Health.
- (b) Total number of community programs certified by Alabama Department of Mental Health that participate in the nurse delegation program.
- (c) Total number of residents served in programs certified by mental health departments that participate in the nurse delegation program.
- (d) Total number of MAS trained registered nurses.
- (e) Total number of MAS trained licensed practical nurses.
- (f) Total number of MAC mental health workers that currently participate in the nurse delegation program.
- (g) Total number of MAC Workers trained during the reporting period.
- (h) Total number of medication errors in each category listed below:
 - i. Wrong person
 - ii. Wrong medication
 - iii. Wrong dose
 - iv. Wrong time/day
 - v. Wrong route
 - vi. Wrong purpose
 - vii. No documentation
- (i) Identify and implement a quality improvement plan for medication errors.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective December 28, 2009. Amended: Filed May 21, 2013; effective June 25, 2013.

610-X-7-.07 Occupational Safety And Health Administration Respiratory Standard.

- (1) Registered nurses and certified registered nurse practitioners may administer the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) Respiratory Standard Medical questionnaire.
- (2) Registered nurses and certified registered nurse practitioners may refer for further evaluation based on the employee's response to the medical questionnaire.

(3) Certified registered nurse practitioners may perform the medical examination related to the OSHA Respiratory Standard Medical questionnaire, if appropriate for their area of practice.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.08 <u>Behavioral Restraint And Seclusion</u>.

Registered nurses are authorized to perform the one-hour, face-to-face evaluation for patients placed in behavioral restraint or seclusion, if the facility has a policy and procedure and organized program of study.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.09 <u>Commercial Drivers License Examinations</u>.

The assessment of applicants for commercial driver licenses is restricted to family, adult, and acute care certified registered nurse practitioners.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing

Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, §34-21-2(c)(21). History: New Rule: Filed November 23, 2009; effective

December 28, 2009.

610-X-7-.10 Delegation Of Insulin And Glucagon Administration In The School Setting

(1) **DEFINITIONS**

- (a) Glucagon: a hormone that raises the level of glucose in the blood and is administered by injection to individuals to treat severe hypoglycemia that is indicated by the inability to eat food or drink, unconsciousness, unresponsiveness and/or seizures or convulsions.
- (b) Insulin: a hormone made and released by the pancreas that allows glucose to enter the cells where it is used for energy. Students with type 1 diabetes and some students with type 2 diabetes need to administer insulin at regular times and take insulin to cover carbohydrate intake to correct hyperglycemia.
- (c) Medication Administration and Safety: See Chapter 610-X-6-.07.
- (d) School setting: preschool through $12^{\rm th}$ grade in a public or private school or school activity sponsored by such a school, in which the student is a direct participant.
- (e) Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant: a school employee who volunteers to receive delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon in the school setting and receives the approved training.

(2) GENERAL PRINCIPLES

- (a) The injection of insulin or glucagon is a nursing task that may be delegated in accordance with the requirements of Act 2014-437 and the student's individualized health plan (IHP). The selection of the type of insulin and dosage levels shall not be delegated.
- (b) An Individualized Health Plan (IHP) shall be developed for any student diagnosed with diabetes who is in the school setting as provided for in Alabama Act No 2014-437.
- (c) Delegation of tasks for students with diabetes shall be confined to procedures that do not require nursing assessment, judgment, evaluation, or complex skills.
- (d) Factors the school nurse shall consider and may include in the IHP are:
- 1. Age of onset and current age of student with diabetes
 - 2. Recent hospitalization
 - 3. Most recent hemoglobin A1C (HgA1C)
- 4. Recent change in type of insulin, delivery method, and dosage
 - 5. If and when glucagon was required
 - 6. Comorbidities or other chronic illnesses
- 7. Participation in sports or other school-sponsored activities

- 8. Orders from a legally authorized prescriber
- 9. Carbohydrate counting
- 10. Blood glucose monitoring
- 11. Activation or suspension of an insulin pump
- 12. Usage of insulin pens
- 13. Self-administration evaluation
- 14. Student's comprehension and adherence to treatment
- 15. Parental comprehension and adherence to treatment
- 16. Emergency protocol related to glucagon administration
 - 17. Student's overall health needs
- 18. Insulin to carbohydrate ratios and correction factors
- 19. Symptoms and treatment of hypoglycemia and hyperglycemia
 - 20. Ketone testing
- (e) Teaching school personnel about diabetes does not constitute delegation.
- (f) Insulin and glucagon administration delegation is limited to:
 - 1. The student's Individual Health Plan
- 2. Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants who have received training and competency validation for each student assigned to them.
 - 3. Specific students
 - 4. Specific identified time frame
- (g) The delegation shall include documentation of administration of glucagon and insulin and appropriate reporting to the school nurse.
- (h) If the local education agency determines that school nurses shall provide the care to students with diabetes, delegation may not be required.

(3) **PROCEDURE**

- (a) The school nurse shall validate the competency of the trained, unlicensed medication assistant to whom delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon is given.
- (b) Insulin injection by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant receiving the delegation shall only occur when consistent with the IHP.
- (c) Dosages of insulin may be injected by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant as designated in the IHP.

- Non-routine and/or large correction dosages of insulin may be given by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant only after consulting with the school nurse, parent or guardian, as designated in the IHP and after verifying and confirming the type and dosage of insulin being injected.
- (e) When the student is not capable of self-administration, routine daily meal boluses (routine correction dosages) of insulin, based on carbohydrate counts and blood glucose levels, may be administered by the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistant as designated in the IHP.
- Training of the Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants shall occur prior to any delegation of administration of glucagon and insulin.
- The school nurse shall follow the training guidelines developed by the State Department of Education in consultation with the Alabama Board of Nursing.
- (h) The local education agency, in consultation with the school principal, shall identify any volunteer in each school to the school nurse for possible training.
- An annual report of the number of Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants in each school and the delegation of administration of insulin and glucagon to specific Trained, Unlicensed Medication Assistants shall be provided to the Board of Nursing by the Lead Nurse of each school system.

Author: Alabama Board of Nursing Statutory Authority: Code of Ala. 1975, \$34-21-2(c)(21).
History: New Rule: Filed March 13, 2015; effective April 17,